

Searches and Confiscation of Property

Table of Contents

Surbiton High School: Ethos and Aims	2
1 Policy Statement	4
2 Searching	4
2.1 Searching with consent	5
2.1.1 Schools' common law powers to search:	5
2.2 Searching without consent	5
2.3 Undertaking Searches	6
2.4 Establishing grounds for a search	6
2.5 Location of a search	6
2.6 During the search	7
2.6.1 Extent of the search – clothes, possessions, desks and lockers	7
2.6.2 Lockers and desks	7
2.6.3. Use of force	7
2.6.4 Strip searching	8
3 After the search	g
3.1 The power to seize and confiscate items – general	g
3.2 Items found as a result of a 'without consent' search	g
3.3 Statutory guidance on the disposal of controlled drugs and stolen items \dots	10
3.4 Recording searches	11
4. Confiscation	11
4.1 Schools' obligations under the European Convention on Human Rights (EC	:HR)11
5. Screening	11
5.1 What the law allows:	11
6. Searches of electronic devices	12
7. School Trips	13
8. Document Information	13



Surbiton High School: Ethos and Aims

Surbiton High School aims to **inspire**, **encourage and empower** our young people to discover and embrace their individuality in an intellectually rigorous academic environment. Balanced with outstanding pastoral care, our students become compassionate, respectful, courageous, and inquisitive members of the community, living out the School's motto: *Amor nos semper ducat* (May love always lead us).

Our Values

We are compassionate:

We are kind and we care, in both thought and action. We consider those less fortunate and strive to support and offer aid. We are mindful of the gentle power of positive actions. We support and encourage those around us.

We are respectful:

We respect all people equally. We respect ourselves, our learning, our community, our environment, and the planet we all share. We strive to act with respect and integrity in all things. When we disagree, we do so respectfully.

We are courageous:

When challenged by our fears we are determined, not deterred. We call on resilience for strength when in the heat of the struggle. We bravely chase our dreams and fight for what we believe. When we fall, we pick ourselves up and forge forward.

We are inquisitive:

We understand that a thoughtful question is the key to unlock understanding. We believe where answers provide ends, questions pose exciting beginnings. We are eager to explore, we question to discover, we are curious to learn more of the world at large.

We are a community:

We are united - with a common focus. We value belonging to a wider community: our school community, our local community, our global community. We are inclusive of all, no matter our differences. We value and nurture the connections we form.



We achieve these aims through our Charter for Happiness and Well-being. Our pupils:

- are inspired to deploy their highest strengths to tackle all situations, developing a growth mind-set and a can-do attitude, equipped with the tools to maximise their positive emotions
- are encouraged to find their niche, to be fully engaged in educational activities and to meet the highest challenges that come their way
- are coached and encouraged to develop strong relationships, to be empathetic and responsive to the needs of themselves and others
- are empowered to lead a meaningful life, to be able to understand what their goals are and to know what they are striving for
- are empowered to draw strength from celebrating their accomplishments, in order to tackle new challenges

We achieve these aims through our inculcation of *Learning Habits*. Our children:

- are inspired in their thinking, to ask questions, to make connections, to imagine possibilities, to reason methodically and to capitalise on their resources
- are encouraged to be emotionally invested in their learning, persevering in the face of difficulties, noticing subtle differences and patterns, managing their distractions, and becoming absorbed in their learning
- are empowered to be fully involved in their learning, growing in interdependence, collaborating effectively, listening empathetically to others, and imitating their learning habits
- are inspired, encouraged, and empowered to be productive, planning their learning in advance, revising and reviewing their progress, distilling important information, and developing their own meta-learning

United Learning and the United Church Schools' Trust

Surbiton High School is part of United Learning and the United Church Schools' Trust. The School has an Anglican foundation, valuing its Christian heritage whilst welcoming staff and children from all faiths and none. We share with United Learning its core mission statement "to bring out the best in everyone". We are committed to the aims of United Learning, including its Framework for Excellence, which can be found at: www.unitedlearning.org.uk



1 Policy Statement

Surbiton High School is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of the members of its community. Accordingly, there may be occasions when it becomes necessary to search the person, the belongings or the room of a pupil. This policy sets out the circumstances in which such searches can be carried out and the means by which it should be done, in accordance with the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and 'Searching, screening and confiscation - Advice for Schools' (Department for Education, July 2022).

Only a member of SLT, a Head of Year, or a trip leader acting under the authority of a member of the SLT, should administer a search of a pupil's person or possessions. In all circumstances, the consent of the pupil to any search should be requested. A second adult witness should always be present.

This policy and procedures also apply on authorised School trips.

Incident reports must be submitted about any such search to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School, listing all the main details. The affected pupil's parents should always be contacted after any search, regardless of the outcome.

In the general course of school life at Surbiton High, given pupils' good conduct overall and taking into account the very good relationships between pupils and staff, it is unlikely that searching pupils will be necessary. There are, however, some occasions when it might be; at those times, this policy should be followed.

Surbiton High School seeks to implement this policy through adherence to the procedures set out in the rest of this document.

This policy applies to all members of our School community, including those in our EYFS setting. Surbiton High School is fully committed to ensuring that the application of this Policy is non-discriminatory in line with the UK Equality Act (2010). Further details are available in the School's Equal Opportunity Policy document.

This policy is available to relevant parties in accordance with our statement on the provision of information.

This policy is reviewed annually by Kavita Patel (Vice Principal) and Jon Owen (Assistant Principal and DSL), or as events or legislation require. The next scheduled date for review is March 2025.

2 Searching

School staff can search a pupil for any item if the pupil agrees.

The Principal and staff authorised by her have a statutory power to search pupils or their possessions, without consent, where they have reasonable grounds for suspecting that the pupil may have a prohibited item. Prohibited items are:



- knives or weapons
- alcohol
- illegal drugs
- stolen items
- tobacco and cigarette papers
- vaping materials
- fireworks
- pornographic images
- any article that the member of staff reasonably suspects has been, or is likely to be, used: to commit an offence, or to cause personal injury to, or damage to the property of, any person (including the pupil).

The Principal and authorised staff can also search for any item banned by the School rules which has been identified in the rules as an item which may be searched for.

2.1 Searching with consent

2.1.1 Schools' common law powers to search:

- School staff can search pupils with their consent¹ for any item.
- The School is not required to have formal written consent from the pupil for this sort of search it is enough for the teacher to ask the pupil to turn out his or her pockets or if the teacher can look in the pupil's bag or locker and for the pupil to agree.
- If a member of staff suspects a pupil has a banned item in his/her possession, staff can instruct the pupil to turn out his or her pockets or bag and if the pupil refuses, the teacher can apply an appropriate punishment as set out in the School's behaviour policy.
- A pupil refusing to co-operate with such a search raises the same kind of issues as where a pupil refuses to stay in a detention or refuses to stop any other unacceptable behaviour when instructed by a member of staff in such circumstances, the School will apply an appropriate disciplinary penalty.

2.2 Searching without consent

The School will always attempt to seek consent from pupils before undertaking any search. However, common law allows the School to search for the following without consent:

- Knives or weapons, alcohol, illegal drugs and stolen items; and
- Tobacco and cigarette papers, fireworks and pornographic images; and

¹ The ability to give consent may be influenced by the child's age or other factors.



- Any article that the member of staff reasonably suspects has been, or is likely to be, used to commit an offence, or to cause personal injury, or damage to property; and
- Any item banned by the School rules which has been identified in the rules as an item which may be searched for.

2.3 Undertaking Searches

- Searches will always be undertaken by a member of staff of the same sex as the pupil being searched; and there must be a witness (also a staff member) and, if possible, they should be the same sex as the pupil being searched.
- There is a limited exception to this rule. Members of the Senior Leadership Team, or those with delegated responsibility, can carry out a search of a pupil of the opposite sex to and / or without a witness present, but only where it is reasonably believed that there is a risk that serious harm will be caused to a person if search is not conducted immediately and where it is not reasonably practicable to summon another member of staff.

2.4 Establishing grounds for a search

- A member of staff can only undertake a search without consent if there are reasonable grounds
 for suspecting that a pupil may have in his or her possession a prohibited item. The person
 conducting the search must decide in each particular case what constitutes reasonable grounds
 for suspicion. For example, they may have heard other pupils talking about the item or they
 might notice a pupil behaving in a way that causes them to suspect that the pupil is concealing a
 prohibited item.
- In the exceptional circumstances when it is necessary to conduct a search of a pupil of the opposite sex or in the absence of a witness, the member of staff conducting the search must bear in mind that a pupil's expectation of privacy increases as they get older.
- The powers allow School staff to search regardless of whether the pupil is found after the search to have that item. This includes circumstances where staff suspect a pupil of having items such as illegal drugs or stolen property which are later found not to be illegal or stolen.
- Where appropriate, the School staff may will consider utilising CCTV footage in order to make a decision as to whether to conduct a search for an item.

2.5 Location of a search

- Searches without consent can only be carried out on the School premises or, if elsewhere, where the member of staff has lawful control or charge of the pupil, for example on School trips in England or in training settings.
- An appropriate location for the search should be found. Where possible, this should be away
 from other pupils. The search must only take place on the school premises or where the
 member of staff has lawful control or charge of the pupil, for example on a school trip.



The powers only apply in England.

2.6 During the search

2.6.1 Extent of the search – clothes, possessions, desks and lockers

• A member of staff may search a pupil's outer clothing, pockets, possessions, desks or lockers.

What the law says:

- The person conducting the search may not require the pupil to remove any clothing other than outer clothing.
- 'Outer clothing' means clothing that is not worn next to the skin or immediately over a garment that is being worn as underwear but 'outer clothing' includes hats; shoes; boots; gloves and scarves.
- 'Possessions' means any goods over which the pupil has or appears to have control this includes desks, lockers and bags.
- A pupil's possessions can only be searched in the presence of the pupil and another member of staff, except where there is a risk that serious harm will be caused to a person if the search is not conducted immediately and where it is not reasonably practicable to summon another member of staff.

Also note:

• The power to search without consent enables a personal search, involving removal of outer clothing and searching of pockets; but not an intimate search going further than that, which only a person with more extensive powers (e.g. a police officer) can do.

2.6.2 Lockers and desks

- Under common law powers, schools are able to search lockers and desks for any item provided the pupil agrees. Schools can also make it a condition of having a locker or desk that the pupil consents to have these searched for any item whether or not the pupil is present.
- If a pupil does not consent to a search (or withdraws consent having signed a consent form) then it is possible to conduct a search without consent but only for the "prohibited items" as previously listed.

2.6.3. Use of force

• Members of staff can use such force as is reasonable given the circumstances when conducting a search for knives or weapons, alcohol, illegal drugs, stolen items, tobacco and cigarette papers, fireworks, pornographic images or articles that have been or could be used to commit an offence or cause harm. Such force cannot be used to search for items banned under the School rules.



• Separate advice is available on teachers' power to use force – see Physical Restraint (Use of Reasonable Force) policy.

2.6.4 Strip searching

- A strip search is a search involving the removal of more than outer clothing. Strip searches on school premises can only be carried out by police officers under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) Code A and in accordance with the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) Code C. 12 While the decision to undertake the strip search itself and its conduct are police matters, school staff retain a duty of care to the pupil(s) involved and should advocate for pupil wellbeing at all times.
- Before calling police into school, staff should assess and balance the risk of a potential strip search on the pupil's mental and physical wellbeing and the risk of not recovering the suspected item. Staff should consider whether introducing the potential for a strip search through police involvement is absolutely necessary, and should always ensure that other appropriate, less invasive approaches have been exhausted. Once the police are on school premises, the decision on whether to conduct a strip search lies solely with them, and the role of the school is to advocate for the safety and wellbeing of the pupil(s) involved.
- Unless there is an immediate risk of harm and where reasonably possible, staff should inform a parent of the pupil suspected of concealing an item in advance of the search, even if the parent is not acting as the appropriate adult. Parents should always be informed by a staff member once a strip search has taken place. Schools should keep records of strip searches that have been conducted on school premises and monitor them for any trends that emerge.

The process the police must follow during a strip search

- Except in cases of urgency where there is risk of serious harm to the pupil or others, whenever a strip search involves exposure of intimate body parts there must be at least two people present other than the pupil, one of which must be the appropriate adult. If the pupil's parent would like to be the appropriate adult, the school should facilitate this where possible. Police officers carrying out the search must be of the same sex as the pupil being searched. An appropriate adult not of the same sex as the pupil being searched may be present if specifically requested by the pupil. Otherwise, no-one of a different sex to the pupil being searched is permitted to be present, and the search must not be carried out in a location where the pupil could be seen by anyone else.
- Except in urgent cases as above, a search of a pupil may take place without an appropriate adult only if the pupil explicitly states in the presence of an appropriate adult that they do not want an appropriate adult to be present during the search and the appropriate adult agrees. A record should be made of the pupil's decision and signed by the appropriate adult. The presence of more than two people, other than an appropriate adult, shall be permitted only in the most exceptional circumstances.



• Strip searching can be highly distressing for the pupil involved, as well as for staff and other pupils affected, especially if undertaken on school premises. PACE Code C states that a strip search may take place only if it is considered necessary to remove an item related to a criminal offence, and the officer reasonably considers the pupil might

After-care following a strip search

• Pupils should be given appropriate support, irrespective of whether the suspected item is found. If an item is found, this may be a police matter, but should always be accompanied by a safeguarding process handled by the school which gives attention to the pupil's wellbeing and involves relevant staff, such as the designated safeguarding lead (or deputy). Safeguarding should also be at the centre of support following a strip search in which the item is not found, both in the sense of supporting the pupil to deal with the experience of being searched, and regarding wider issues that may have informed the decision to conduct a strip search in the first place. In both cases, pupils should feel that they have an opportunity to express their views regarding the strip search and the events surrounding it. School staff should give particular consideration to any pupils who have been strip searched more than once and/or groups of pupils who are more likely to be subjected to strip searching with unusual frequency and consider preventative approaches.

3 After the search

3.1 The power to seize and confiscate items – general

- •The School's general power to discipline, as circumscribed by Section 91 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, enables a member of staff to confiscate, retain or dispose of a pupil's property as a disciplinary penalty, where reasonable to do so.
- The decision to confiscate a pupil's property will be made by a member of the Senior Leadership Team, Head of Year or delegated member of staff. The member of staff can use their discretion to confiscate, retain and/or destroy any item found as a result of a 'with consent' search, so long as it is reasonable in the circumstances. Where any article is reasonably suspected to be an offensive weapon, it should be handed to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School, who will then pass it on to the police.

3.2 Items found as a result of a 'without consent' search

- The member of staff carrying out the search can seize anything they have reasonable grounds for suspecting is a prohibited item or is evidence in relation to an offence.
- Where the person conducting a search finds alcohol, they must pass it on to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School, who will dispose of it. It will not be returned to the pupil.



- Where controlled drugs are discovered, these must be handed to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School who will pass them on to the police as soon as possible.
- Where other substances which are not believed to be controlled drugs are discovered these should be handed to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School. This would include, for example, so called 'legal highs'. Where staff suspect a substance may be controlled they should treat them as controlled drugs as outlined above.

Where stolen items are discovered, the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School will deliver them to the police as soon as reasonably unless there is good reason not to do so.

- Where a member of staff finds **tobacco**, **cigarette papers or e-cigarettes**, **fireworks** they must be handed to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School who will dispose of them. They will not be returned to the pupil.
- If a member of staff finds a pornographic image, this must be treated as a Safeguarding issue. Staff should follow the appropriate safeguarding procedure. Note: The School may dispose of the image unless there are reasonable grounds to suspect that its possession constitutes a specified offence (i.e. it is extreme or child pornography) in which case the Vice Principal or a DSL who will deliver it to the police as soon as reasonably practicable.
- Where an article that has been (or is likely to be) used to commit an offence or to cause personal injury or damage to property is found, the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School will decide if it will be delivered to the police or returned to the owner. It may also be retained or disposed of.
- Where a member of staff finds an item which is banned under the School rules they should take into account all relevant circumstances and use their professional judgement to decide whether to return it to its owner, retain it or dispose of it.
- Any weapons or items which are evidence of an offence must be passed to the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School, who will pass it on to the police as soon as possible.

3.3 Statutory guidance on the disposal of controlled drugs and stolen items

Only the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School shall decide whether there is a good reason not to deliver stolen items or controlled drugs to the police. In determining what is a "good reason" for not delivering controlled drugs or stolen items to the police they will have regard to the following guidance issued by the Secretary of State:

- In determining what is a 'good reason' for not delivering controlled drugs or stolen items to the police, the member of staff should take into account all relevant circumstances and use their professional judgement to determine whether they can safely dispose of a seized article.
- Where staff are unsure as to the legal status of a substance and have reason to believe it may be a controlled drug they should treat it as such.
- With regard to stolen items, it would not be reasonable or desirable to involve the police in dealing with low value items such as pencil cases.



3.4 Recording searches

• Any search by a member of staff for a prohibited item listed in paragraph 3 and all searches conducted by police officers should be recorded in the school's safeguarding reporting system, including whether or not an item is found. This will allow the designated safeguarding lead (or deputy) to identify possible risks and initiate a safeguarding response if required. Headteachers may also decide that all searches for items banned by the school rules should be recorded. Staff members should follow the School policy in these cases

4. Confiscation

• School staff can seize any prohibited item found as a result of a search. They can also seize any item, they consider harmful or detrimental to School discipline.

4.1 Schools' obligations under the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR)

- Under article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, pupils have a right to respect for their private life. In the context of these particular powers, this means that pupils have the right to expect a reasonable level of personal privacy.
- The right under Article 8 is not absolute, it can be interfered with but any interference with this right by a school (or any public body) must be justified and proportionate.
- The powers to search in the Education Act 1996 are compatible with Article 8. A school exercising those powers lawfully should have no difficulty in demonstrating that it has also acted in accordance with Article 8. This advice will assist schools in deciding how to exercise the searching powers in a lawful way.

5. Screening

5.1 What the law allows:

- The School can require pupils to undergo screening by a walk-through or hand-held metal detector (arch or wand) even if they do not suspect them of having a weapon and without the consent of the pupils.
- Any member of School staff can screen pupils.
- If a pupil refuses to be screened, the School may refuse to have the pupil on the premises.
- If a pupil fails to comply, and the School does not let the pupil in, the School has not excluded the pupil and the pupil's absence should be treated as unauthorised. The pupil should comply with the rules and attend.



• This type of screening, without physical contact, is not subject to the same conditions as apply to the powers to search without consent.

6. Searches of electronic devices

Searches of electronic devices will be undertaken by the Principal, Vice Principal or Head of School, or those with delegated responsibility.

Where the person conducting the search finds an electronic device that is prohibited by the School rules or that they reasonably suspects has been, or is likely to be, used to commit an offence or cause personal injury or damage to property, they may examine any data or files on the device where there is a good reason to do so. They may also delete data or files if they think there is a good reason to do so, unless they are going to give the device to the police. This power applies to all schools and there is no need to have parental consent to search through a young person's mobile phone if it has been seized in a lawful 'without consent' search and is prohibited by the School rules or is reasonably suspected of being, or being likely to be, used to commit an offence or cause personal injury or damage to property.

- The member of staff must have regard to the following guidance issued by the Secretary of State when determining what is a "good reason" for examining or erasing the contents of an electronic device:
- In determining a 'good reason' to examine or erase the data or files the staff member should reasonably suspect that the data or file on the device in question has been, or could be, used to cause harm, to disrupt teaching or break the School rules.
- If an electronic device that is prohibited by the School rules has been seized and the member of staff has reasonable grounds to suspect that it contains evidence in relation to an offence, they must give the device to the police as soon as it is reasonably practicable. Material on the device that is suspected to be evidence relevant to an offence, or that is a pornographic image of a child or an extreme pornographic image, should not be deleted prior to giving the device to the police.4
- If a staff member does not find any material that they suspect is evidence in relation to an offence and decides not to give the device to the police, they can decide whether it is appropriate to delete any files or data from the device or to retain the device as evidence of a breach of School discipline.
- Where appropriate, Parents will be informed when such a search has been undertaken, irrespective of whether or not any further action is to be taken.



7. School Trips

This Policy on searches of pupils and their belongings applies at all times, irrespective of whether the pupil is at the School or on a non-residential, or residential, trip, outside of Surbiton High School.

- There may therefore be occasion to carry out a search on a School trip.
- If this occasion arises, the adult in charge of the trip should make an effort to contact the SLT Duty Officer responsible for supporting the trip or visit, to obtain authorisation. If this proves impossible and the circumstances are such as to make a search necessary, the adult in charge is empowered to carry out such a search, following all the above procedures.
- Full notes must be kept, and an incident report submitted in due course.

8. Document Information

Version Number	6
Reason for Version Change	Annual review
Name of owner/author	Kavita Patel
Name of individual/department responsible	Vice Principal
Target Audience	Public
Date issued	24 th May 2024
Where available	MIS, School web-site
Review Date	March 2025